

UNDERSTANDING THYROID CANCER



CONTENTS

WHAT IS THE thyroid gland?	3
What does the thyroid do?	4
WHAT IS thyroid CANCER?	5
What causes thyroid cancer?	5
WHAT ARE THE SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF thyroid cancer?	6
HOW IS thyroid CANCER DIAGNOSED?	7
THE CANCER CARE TEAM	9
WHAT IS STAGING? The TNM system	10 10
WHAT IS GRADING?	11
TREATMENT OPTIONS FOR thyroid CANCER SURGERY	11 12
HOW CAN I PREPARE FOR SURGERY?	12
SIDE EFFECTS OF SURGERY	12
Thyroid hormone replacement therapy	12
Radioactive iodine treatment	13
Preparing for radioactive treatment:	14
After radioactive iodine treatment	14
Radiation therapy	14
SIDE EFFECTS OF RADIATION THERAPY	15
SYSTEMIC TREATMENT - treatments that help the whole-body	15
CHEMOTHERAPY	16
FOLLOW-UP CARE	16
Diet and nutrition	18
QUESTIONS TO ASK YOUR CANCER CARE TEAM	20



Understanding Thyroid Cancer

WHAT IS THE THYROID GLAND?

The thyroid gland lies at the base of the neck. It is shaped like a butterfly and wraps around the windpipe (trachea) beneath the voice box (larynx). Its parts include:

- wings of the butterfly (left and right lobes)
- body of the butterfly (isthmus, joining the left and right lobes)
- there is a small part that lies over the voice-box (pyramidal lobe).

When the thyroid is larger than normal it is called a **goitre**. Lumps in the thyroid are called nodules. **Most thyroid nodules are benign** but some can be cancerous.



Introducing the thyroid and surrounding areas



WHAT DOES THE THYROID DO?

Glands that release hormones into the blood stream are called **endocrine glands**; thyroid is the largest endocrine gland of the body.

The thyroid produces hormones that are released into the blood and carried to every tissue in the body. There are two types of thyroid hormone, tri-iodothyronine (T_3) and thyroxine (T_4). These hormones control the speed at which the cells work (metabolism), and are important in brain development and growth in children. These hormones also determine how sensitive other organs are to endocrine hormones. Thyroid hormone is made in cells called follicular cells.

The amount of thyroid hormone in the blood stream is controlled by the pituitary gland. The pituitary gland, is a small endocrine gland that sits under the brain. It releases a hormone into the blood called **thyroid stimulating hormone** (TSH). When doctors order thyroid tests, they will look at all three of these hormones $(T_3, T_4 \text{ and TSH})$ but TSH is the most important.

- Too much thyroid hormone is called **hyperthyroidism** or an overactive thyroid. This can lead to heart palpitations, trouble sleeping, shaky hands, muscle weakness, nervousness or anxiety, feeling hot and problems with your menstrual periods.
- Not enough thyroid hormone is called **hypothyroidism** or an underactive thyroid. This can lead to weight gain, lethargy, intolerance to cold weather, depression, constipation and problems with hair loss and dry thyroid.



WHAT IS THYROID CANCER?

<u>Cancer</u> occurs when cells become abnormal, grow uncontrollably and have the potential to spread to other parts of the body. These cells build up to form a mass (or lump).

There are four main types of thyroid cancer, most of these come from the follicular cells that make the thyroid hormone:

- **Papillary:** This is the most common type of thyroid cancer (about 75% of all cases). It tends to grow very slowly, but often spread to lymph nodes. It can be cured or controlled in most people and is rarely fatal
- Follicular: This accounts for about 5-10% cases. It grows slowly and tends to stay in the thyroid, however it can spread to the lungs or bones if diagnosed late. If diagnosed early, most people with follicular thyroid cancer can be treated successfully
- Medullary: This is different to other thyroid cancers because they develop in cells called 'C cells' that do not produce thyroid hormone and can be due to having an underlying genetic predisposition. All patients who develop this type of thyroid cancer should be assessed to decide if they need genetic testing.
- **Anaplastic:** This type of thyroid cancer is rare (less than 1%) but is very aggressive and can be challenging to treat.

WHAT CAUSES THYROID CANCER?

Doctors often don't know why a person gets cancer. But we do know what makes some cancers more likely.

Thyroid cancers are more commonly associated with:

- being female: In Australia women are about four times more likely than men to get thyroid cancer
- age: while thyroid cancer can occur at any age, it is most common in people aged 40–60 years.

Having a **diet low in iodine** increases risk of thyroid cancer, but this is **rare in Australia** as iodine is added to salt and other foods.

Other factors that may increase the risk of thyroid cancer are:



- radiation: this is a very important risk factor for thyroid cancer, either because of medical treatment (particularly low dose radiation treatment in childhood), or from environmental exposure such as atomic explosions or nuclear fallout
- having a non-cancerous (benign) thyroid disease: like an enlarged thyroid (goitre), thyroid nodules (adenomas) or inflammation of the thyroid (thyroiditis), or having one of these conditions in your family
- A family history of thyroid cancer or an inherited gene change (mutation) in the RET oncogene (a protein coding gene)

WHAT ARE THE SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS OF THYROID CANCER?

The signs and symptoms of thyroid cancer depend on where the cancer is, its size and how far it has spread in the body. Most thyroid cancers do not produce any symptoms and are commonly found incidentally on scans (<u>ultrasound or CT</u> scan) for other conditions.

The **most common sign** is a lump or swelling in the middle of the neck (where the thyroid is). Lumps in the thyroid are called **nodules**, **but most nodules are not cancerous**. Some thyroid cancers can spread to the lymph glands and cause a lump in the side of the neck.

Other less common symptoms of thyroid cancer are:

- change in voice due to damage of the voice box nerve which runs behind the thyroid gland
- difficulty swallowing due to compression of the swallowing tube (oesophagus)
- difficulty breathing, or shortness of breath due to involvement of the windpipe which sits underneath the thyroid gland
- pressure in the neck when lying down.

Most often these symptoms are not from thyroid cancer. However, if you have any of these symptoms for more than a few weeks, talk to your doctor as early as possible. They will be able to help diagnose and treat you.



HOW IS THYROID CANCER DIAGNOSED?

It is important that your doctor establishes the diagnosis of thyroid cancer, assesses the size of the cancer and whether it has spread to the lymph nodes in the neck or elsewhere in the body.

To answer these questions, your doctor will need to do the following things:

- talk with you about your **medical history**. This includes symptoms and signs you may have noticed, any health conditions, medications you are taking and whether you smoke or drink alcohol
- perform a physical examination by feeling and looking at your neck and throat
- order diagnostic tests, which may include scans.

Thyroid cancer is often found when someone has a scan of the neck area. However, there are lots of different tests that can be used to confirm a diagnosis of thyroid cancer. Not everyone will need to have every test for thyroid cancer. Your doctor will recommend tests that are right for you.

Common tests include:

- **Blood tests:** Your doctor may suggest blood tests to check the levels of certain hormones and other thyroid cancer markers, if required (e.g. calcitonin and CEA or [Carcinoembryonic Antigen]).
- <u>Ultrasound scan</u>: Your doctor may suggest ultrasound to produce pictures of the thyroid and nearby lymph nodes, to look at any nodules (lumps) in the thyroid and also in the lymph nodes.
- <u>Nasoendoscopy</u>: Your doctor will use a very thin flexible tube with a tiny light and camera on it, and pass it through your nose to see down the back of your throat to check the function of vocal cords as nerves to your voice box may be affected by thyroid cancer.
- **Biopsy:** This involves removing a small piece (sample) from the cancer. The sample is then examined under a microscope to check for cancer cells. This is often the only sure way to tell if you have cancer. Your doctor may recommend:
 - Needle biopsy (also called Fine Needle Aspiration of FNA): This is used when there is a lump (enlarged lymph node) in your neck that could have cancer cells in it. During the procedure, your doctor will take some cells (a very small sample) from the lump using a needle. This is done by a radiologist, clinician or pathologist using



an ultrasound to see that the needle is in the right spot. You may feel a bit uncomfortable during the biopsy.

- <u>CT (Computed Tomography) scan</u>: This uses X-rays to take pictures of the inside of the body. If the person has cancer, a CT scan can help the doctor see where it is, measure how big it is, and determine whether it has spread into nearby organs or other parts of your body.
- MRI (Magnetic Resonance Imaging) scan: This uses magnetic fields to take pictures of the inside of the body. This helps the doctor see how far a cancer has grown into the tissue around it.
- **Thyroid (radio-isotope) scan:** Your doctor may suggest thyroid scan if blood tests indicate an overactive thyroid. This involves injecting a small amount of radioactive liquid (such as iodine) into your arm prior to a gamma camera scan.
 - o <u>PET (Positron Emission Tomography) scan</u>: This is a whole-body scan that uses a radioactive form of sugar which can show if thyroid cancer has spread elsewhere in the body.



THE CANCER CARE TEAM

After you have been diagnosed with thyroid cancer, your doctor is likely to talk about your diagnosis with the cancer care team they work with. This is known as a head and neck cancer MDT (multidisciplinary team). You may be asked to attend an appointment where the MDT talks about how best to treat your cancer, and coordinate your treatment and care. This team includes experts who will review the diagnosis and tests performed and consider all parts of your treatment and recovery. The purpose of the MDT is to decide on the best treatment for your cancer and to help you regain the best function possible in the long-term.

The cancer care team may include:		
Endocrinologists	specialist in diagnosing and treating disorders of the endocrine system	
Head and neck surgeons	specialist doctors who remove cancers in the face, mouth, throat and neck. This includes surgeons with a background in otolaryngology (Ear Nose and Throat), general surgery, maxillofacial surgery, and reconstructive surgery.	
Endocrine surgeons	specialist on the thyroid gland, parathyroid glands, adrenal glands and the pancreas	
Nuclear medicine specialists	specialist doctor with expertise in interpreting scans such as PET scans or radioactive iodine scans and who prescribe radioactive iodine treatments	
Radiation oncologist	Specialist doctor who treats cancers with radiation therapy	
Radiation therapists	healthcare professionals who deliver the radiation treatment prescribed by the radiation oncologist.	
Medical oncologist	Specialist doctor with experience prescribing treatments that help the whole-body including chemotherapy, targeted therapy and immunotherapy	
Dietitians	healthcare professionals who give food and dietary advice.	
Speech Pathologists	healthcare professionals who work with people who have difficulties speaking or swallowing.	
Nurses	healthcare professionals who are experts in the care of people with cancer, and work with all members of the cancer care team. Often, specialist cancer nurses are part of the MDT. They will help to plan and coordinate your care	
Pathologists	specialist doctor with expertise in looking at cells under a microscope and determining if the person has cancer and what type of cancer.	
Psychologists	healthcare professionals who assist people with worries about coping and living with cancer (mental health)	
Social workers	healthcare professionals who provide practical and emotional support to people living with cancer	
Palliative care team	specialist doctors and nurses who have expertise in managing symptoms and improving quality of life, often in patients where the cancer can't be cured.	



WHAT IS STAGING?

Once your doctor has made a diagnosis of cancer, it is important that they assess the extent (or stage) of the cancer. Staging a cancer is important because it helps doctors to choose the best treatment for you. It also gives information about the chances of cure. The stage is based on the size of the cancer, whether it has invaded into nearby areas and whether it has spread to lymph nodes in the neck (called lymph nodal metastases) or other sites in the body, such as the lungs, liver or bone (called distant metastases).

The **TNM (Tumour, Node, Metastases) system** is used to stage cancer. This system is used to summarise information about the size of the cancer and whether it has spread to lymph nodes or other parts of the body.

THE TNM SYSTEM

- T stands for the size of the cancer. A T value can range from 1 (small and localised to the thyroid) cancer) to 4 (invading into other structures).
- N indicates whether the cancer has spread to the lymph nodes. Where there is no cancer in the lymph nodes, the N value is 0. An N value can range from 1a to 1b, depending on the size and number of cancerous lymph nodes.
- M stands for distant metastases, or whether the cancer has spread to other parts of the body outside the head and neck. An M value can be either 0 (cancer has not spread to other parts of the body) or 1 (cancer has spread to other parts of the body).

Once the values for T, N and M have been worked out, they are combined to give an overall score between 1 and 4. Your doctor may write this in Roman numerals: I, II, III and IV.

Thyroid cancer is very different to other head and neck cancers, because the stage depends on your age. Staging is complicated but in broad terms the higher the stage, the greater the extent, spread or invasion of the thyroid cancer.

It is important to realise that the staging systems for thyroid cancer is very different to other cancers and sometimes not very accurate in predicting the chances of cure for an individual. This is because a high number of patients with Stage III and IV well-differentiated thyroid cancer (papillary and follicular) are cured with appropriate treatment. It is important you discuss the stage of your cancer with your doctors to understand what it means for you.



WHAT IS GRADING?

Staging and grading are not the same. Your doctor may also be interested in the grade of the cancer. Grading refers to the growth pattern of the cancer. The grade of the cancer is determined by a pathologist who examines the biopsy sample under a microscope. The pathologist determines the grade of the cancer by how the cells look. The grade can be used to estimate how quickly the cancer is likely to grow and spread.

For thyroid cancers, grading is usually described as either well differentiated (papillary and follicular) which have a good prognosis or poorly differentiated (including anaplastic and de-differentiated) which often have a poorer prognosis.

TREATMENT OPTIONS FOR THYROID CANCER

Following a diagnosis of thyroid cancer, your <u>cancer care team</u> will discuss the treatment options including the possibility of participating in a clinical trial that is suitable for you. This is also a good time to consider if you would like a <u>second opinion</u>.

The most suitable treatment for thyroid cancer depends on many things including:

- what type of thyroid cancer you have
- whether the cancer has spread
- personal factors (e.g. age, general health and treatment history)
- types of treatment available
- your preferences for treatment.

<u>Surgery</u> is the main treatment for people with thyroid cancer. The aim of treatment is to surgically remove all thyroid cancer cells. Many people with thyroid cancer also receive radioactive iodine and thyroid hormone replacement. Some people will need other treatments such as radiation. Adding another form of treatment is known as adjuvant therapy.

<u>Radioactive iodine treatment</u> is a form of internal radiation therapy, typically taken in a gel tablet form (with 1 to 3 days in hospital), to destroy any residual thyroid tissue and thyroid cancer cells left behind after surgery.

Thyroid hormone replacement therapy is needed in patients who have had all of their thyroid removed. This is to replace the thyroid hormone in the body and to help slow the growth of any cancer cells to reduce the risk of the cancer coming back.

The treatments listed apply to most thyroid cancers.



SURGERY

The main treatment for thyroid cancer is surgery. There are several operations that can be used to remove thyroid cancer. The type of operation used will depend on the size and location of the cancer.

SURGICAL PROCEDURES

The different options that can be used for thyroid cancer are:

- <u>Thyroidectomy</u>: This is the removal of the thyroid gland from the neck. If the entire thyroid gland is removed, it is called a total thyroidectomy. If only some of the thyroid gland is removed, it is called a partial or hemi-thyroidectomy.
- <u>Neck dissection</u>: This involves removal of lymph nodes from your neck. This is important when there are concerns of cancer in the lymph nodes or abnormalities on your scan.

HOW CAN I PREPARE FOR SURGERY?

Your doctor will explain details of the surgery, general risks and side effects of surgery. Ask your doctor if you have questions. They may recommend:

- stopping blood thinners (e.g. aspirin) before surgery to reduce the risk of bleeding
- special stockings to reduce the risk of blood clots
- early mobilisation (i.e. not staying bed) to reduce the risk of blood clots and chest infection
- antibiotics to reduce to risk of wound infection.

If you smoke, it is important that you consider stopping smoking before starting treatment to help reduce the risk of infection and recover after your treatment.

SIDE EFFECTS OF SURGERY

Treatment for thyroid cancer may lead to a number of side effects. You may not experience all of the side effects. Speak with your doctor if you have any questions or concerns about side effects.

THYROID HORMONE REPLACEMENT THERAPY

Thyroid hormone replacement therapy replaces thyroid in the body, after the thyroid gland is removed by surgery. The thyroid hormone, called thyroxine, is needed by the body to maintain health.



Thyroid hormone replacement helps to keep your body's metabolism at a normal healthy rate. If you do not have enough thyroid hormone (hypothyroidism) you may have symptoms such as weight gain, constipation, brittle and dry hair, sluggishness and fatigue. Heart problems can occur in severe cases. Too much thyroid hormone (hyperthyroidism) may cause symptoms such as weight loss, chest pain, rapid or irregular heartbeat and feeling hot.

For thyroid hormone replacement, your doctor will prescribe a tablet (every day for the rest of your life). You should take the tablet at the same time every day. Speak to your doctor about all other medications that you take, including dietary supplements such as iron and calcium.

- Your doctor will suggest blood tests to monitor your thyroid hormone levels, to help them adjust the dose. Don't stop taking the thyroxine medication without discussing it first with the doctor.
- Tell your doctor if you are pregnant as a higher dose may be needed.
- The dose of thyroid hormone needed is different for every person and may change as a person ages. Talk to your doctor about any signs to look out for.

Taking thyroxine also helps to reduce the risk of cancer coming back, or recurring, by lowering the thyroid stimulating hormone made by your body which can stimulate thyroid tissue growth. Lowering the thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) by taking thyroxine is called '**TSH suppression**'. A higher dose of thyroxine will be used for TSH suppression, if there is a higher risk of the cancer coming back (recurring). Your doctor will monitor the level of your TSH. Sometimes the dose will need to be adjusted, but it is important you do not increase your dose of thyroxine without speaking to your specialist.

RADIOACTIVE IODINE TREATMENT

Radioactive iodine can be used as a **radiation treatment** for thyroid cancer, since the thyroid gland in particular takes up iodine in the body. The cancer cells take up radioactive iodine (called iodine–131) which causes the cancer cells to die. It is usually given to destroy remaining thyroid cells, not removed by surgery and any that may have spread.

Radioactive iodine treatment is an option only for some people with the papillary and follicular types of thyroid cancer and often starts at least 4-5 weeks after surgery. For women who are pregnant and those who are breastfeeding, radioactive iodine treatment is not suitable. Your doctor will recommend stopping radioactive iodine treatment, before starting treatment.

Guide for people considering radioactive iodine treatment:



PREPARING FOR RADIOACTIVE TREATMENT:

- For about 2 weeks before treatment, you will need to avoid foods high in iodine such as seafood, iodised salt, some dairy food and any food coloured pink with the additive E127. You need to have a low iodine diet because too much iodine in your body can stop the treatment working well. Your cancer care team will provide you with advice on foods to avoid.
- You will need to either stop taking thyroid hormone replacement pills temporarily, or have injections of thyroid stimulating hormone (Thyrogen) while taking the hormone replacement. This is to increase the thyroid stimulating hormone in your body, and your cancer care team will discuss the best option available for you.
- If you have the option of stopping thyroid hormone replacement during the preparation, there may be some side effects due to hypothyroidism such as tiredness.

AFTER RADIOACTIVE IODINE TREATMENT

- After the radioactive iodine treatment, you will have a full body radio-isotope scan, using a small amount of radioactive liquid. The scan can help detect if any cancer cells are left or if the cancer has spread. The scan is painless and causes few side effects, and you will not be radioactive after the scan.
- At home you may need to continue safety measures such as sleeping alone, washing your clothes separately and preparing your own food. You may be advised to sit to pass urine, shut the lid and flush the toilet several times.
- You may be advised to take precautions to avoid pregnancy for a while after treatment, If you or your partner want to have a baby after radioactive iodine treatment, you should talk to your doctor for advice about suitable timing.

RADIATION THERAPY

Sometimes external beam radiation therapy (X-rays applied from outside the body) may be used after surgery (adjuvant radiation therapy).

Radiation therapy can be used in the following ways:

• Adjuvant: This is when radiation therapy is given after the surgical removal of thyroid cancer to kill cancer cells that may not have been taken out during surgery. When used, it usually starts about 4 weeks after surgery to allow recovery from surgery. Radiation therapy treatment usually lasts for about 6 weeks.



• Palliative: In cases where a cure is not possible, radiation therapy is used to relieve symptoms of advanced thyroid cancer. Symptoms that may require palliative radiation therapy include pain, bleeding, airway obstruction and swelling.

SIDE EFFECTS OF RADIATION THERAPY

The side effects of radiation therapy start around two weeks into treatment and progress through treatment to peak in the last week just after treatment ends. The side effects start to improve 2–3 weeks after the end of treatment.

Side effects associated with radiation therapy depend on:

- the dose of radiation therapy
- the area being treated
- whether or not chemotherapy is added to the radiation therapy.

SYSTEMIC TREATMENT - TREATMENTS THAT HELP THE WHOLE-BODY

Systemic treatments are usually only required when thyroid cancer spreads or is very aggressive. Systemic therapies used for the treatment of thyroid cancer most commonly refer to targeted therapy, and uncommonly chemotherapy.

TARGETED THERAPY

When thyroid cancer spreads or if it becomes resistant to radioactive iodine, there are a number of targeted therapies available in the form of a tablet, that "target" and stop key growth pathways that thyroid cancers use to grow and spread. For example, these targets often refer to known genetic mutations (abnormalities) that occur in thyroid cancer that are responsible for driving cancer growth and spread. Targeted therapy, often called "tyrosine kinase inhibitors" or "TKIs" for short, can be effective to control cancer growth for some time. However, like all tablets, side effects can occur so the timing of starting the tablet will be an important decision that your doctor will discuss with you. Your doctor may need to organize the genetic testing of your cancer .



CHEMOTHERAPY

Chemotherapy works by destroying or damaging cancer cells. Chemotherapy is **not** commonly used for the treatment of most thyroid cancers. However, occasionally it is considered for people with advanced thyroid cancer who are no longer responding to other treatments or if you have anaplastic thyroid cancer.

CLINICAL TRIALS AND OTHER TREATMENT INCLUDING IMMUNOTHERAPY

Fortunately, advances in the treatment of cancer are part of routine cancer care. You may be offered participation in a clinical trial if available and relevant for your cancer type, which aim to discover or establish new treatment options for people with your type of cancer. The advantages and disadvantages of trial participation will be discussed with you before you are able to consider participation. Clinical trials are vital to help establish the best treatment for different types of cancer and can be a means of accessing new therapies that have proven value. If a treatment hasn't been tested in enough patients to know it is safe or effective, then these treatments need to be tested in a clinical trial to prove whether they are truly beneficial for the treatment of your cancer.

FOLLOW-UP CARE

You will have regular check-up after your treatment for thyroid cancer. It is important to keep up with follow-up meetings, to make sure that if the cancer comes back, it is caught and treated as early as possible. If you have any concerns between visits, you should contact your doctor.

At your follow-up visit, your doctor will perform a physical examination (e.g. feel your neck). Depending on the type of thyroid cancer, and the risk of cancer returning, your doctor will recommend scans and blood tests.

The blood tests monitor the thyroid hormones and tumour markers that can indicate if the cancer has come back (recurred). The scans help to find where any cancer has returned.

You may have the following tests and scans:



Blood tests

- **Thyroid hormones and TSH** are measured as needed, to check you are on the right dose of thyroid hormone replacement and to monitor thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH). The dose of thyroid hormone may be adjusted for your needs, including changes with age.
- TSH is monitored for TSH suppression or lowering. TSH suppression aims to reduce the risk of cancer coming back, and is used particularly for patients with a higher risk of recurrence.
- If you have been treated for papillary or follicular cancer, blood tests will be done for **thyroglobulin**, which is a tumour marker protein made by thyroid cells. Levels are very low if the thyroid gland has been removed and may rise if the cancer comes back. Anti-thyroglobulin antibodies may also be measured.
- Sometimes the doctor may decide to measure stimulated thyroglobulin, as the test can be more accurate. The doctor would give you instructions about any changes in your medication needed before this test.
- Calcitonin and a tumour marker protein called carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) will be measured for patients treated for medullary thyroid cancer. Levels may rise if the cancer comes back.

Neck ultrasound

• An ultrasound of the neck is used to check the area where the thyroid was removed to see if there is any cancer growing in the thyroid bed. It is also used to check your lymph glands around the neck.

Radio-isotope scan

- A radioisotope scan is used to check of there are any cancer cells in your body. A small amount of radioactive liquid (e.g. iodine-131) is injected into a vein and after about 20 minutes you will lie under a gamma camera machine.
- You may need to change your medications before a radioisotope scan to help the cancer cells take up the radioactive iodine and make the test more accurate. Your doctor would give you instructions on any changes needed.
- The scan measures how much radioactivity has been taken up by the thyroid and also helps to see if the cancer has spread.
- o The scan is painless and has few side effects. You will not be radioactive after the scan.

CT, **PET** or other scans



- You may have a <u>CT or PET</u> scan if cancer cells are found elsewhere in your body or if further testing is needed.
- <u>CT or MRI scans</u> are not used routinely. They may be used when the blood tumour markers suggest the cancer has come back, but it has not shown up on the ultrasound or radioisotope scan. These scans may also assist in planning any further surgery.

DIET AND NUTRITION

It is important for people with thyroid cancer to stay well-nourished and to avoid unplanned weight loss. If you can't eat or drink enough, you may become malnourished or begin to lose weight. In this case, your healthcare team may consider feeding you through a tube for a period. Maintaining good nutrition is important to help:

- o ensure you get through treatment
- o reduce your risk of infection
- o recover more quickly
- o keep your strength and energy levels up

What can I do to help my diet and nutrition?

To help your body recover from surgery, you need to be well nourished. You can keep well-nourished and hydrated during and after your treatment by:

- eating a diet high in protein and calories (energy)
- eating small meals or snacks, more frequently
- drinking nourishing fluids, such as milk, milkshakes, smoothies or juice. Your dietitian may also recommend nutritional supplement drinks which are high in protein and energy.

You may need to make changes to the types of food you eat. If you have a sore throat, you may want to avoid foods that irritate, such as citrus or vinegar, and hard foods, such as chips or toast. Try to swallow gently and to eat small amounts of healthy, nutritious food.

For patients preparing to have radioactive iodine treatment

For about **2 weeks before treatment**, you will need to avoid foods high in iodine such as seafood, iodised salt, some dairy food and any food-coloured pink with the additive E127. You need to have a low iodine diet



because too much iodine in your body can stop the treatment working so well. Your health care team will provide you with advice on the foods to avoid.

WHAT HAPPEN IF MY CANCER RECURS OR SPREADS?

The majority of people with thyroid cancer will be cured with surgery and radioactive iodine. However, sometimes the cancer can return. This is called recurrence.

If a cancer recurs in your neck, often it can be cut out with further surgery or treated with radiotherapy.

When the cancer spreads to other organs, it may not be curable. However, if these cancer spots are small some patients may not require treatment for a long time, even many years. If further treatment is necessary, you are likely to see a nuclear physician, radiation oncologist or medical oncologist to discuss what further treatments may be helpful for your unique situation. These treatments have been described in the treatment section above.



QUESTIONS TO ASK YOUR CANCER CARE TEAM

Being diagnosed with cancer can be overwhelming and confusing. There are a lot of information and treatment decisions to make at a distressing time for you and your family. To help you understand everything and get the information you need to make decisions about your health, consider asking your Cancer Care Team the following questions:

- o Exactly what type of thyroid cancer do I have? Where is it located?
- o Why did I get this cancer?
- o What stage is the cancer?
- o Are you expecting to cure my cancer?
- o What are my treatment options?
- o Which treatment do you recommend for me and why?
- o Have you discussed my case at a Multidisciplinary Team meeting and what were the recommendations?
- o Who will be part of the cancer care team, and what does each person do?
- What are the possible side effects of treatment in the short- and long-term? How can they be prevented or managed?
- o Will the treatment affect my ability to eat, swallow, or speak? Will I need a feeding tube?
- o What will happen if I don't have any treatment?
- o How much will the treatment and/or operation cost? Will Medicare or my health insurance cover it?
- o What follow-up tests will I need? How often will they be?
- o Are any clinical trials available or suitable for me to consider?
- o What lifestyle changes (diet, exercise) do you recommend I make?
- o Who can I call if I have any problems or questions?
- Where can I find emotional support for me and my family? Is there a support group or psychologist you can recommend?
- o If I wanted to get a second opinion, can you provide all my medical details?



You may want to write specific questions here to ask your doctor or cancer care team		
	-	

About Head and Neck Cancer Australia

Head and Neck Cancer Australia (formerly Beyond Five) is Australia's only charity dedicated to providing information and support to people living with head and neck cancer, caregivers, family and healthcare professionals.

Head and Neck Cancer Australia's mission is to improve the quality of life of everyone affected by head and neck cancer through education and access to support and to raise awareness of head and neck cancer nationally.

Head and Neck Cancer Australia supports people through their cancer journey, from diagnosis to treatment and life after cancer by providing comprehensive, easy to understand and easy to access information. We have the only Directory of Head and Neck Cancer services and support groups available in Australia and New Zealand helping people to find the right services and support when they need it most.

Phone: 1300 424 848 Email: <u>contact@headandneckcancer.org.au</u> Web: <u>www.headandneckcancer.org.au</u>

Head and Neck Cancer Australia Disclaimer: You acknowledge and accept that the information in this factsheet is for general information purposes only. It is not intended, nor should it be relied on, as medical or legal advice, or as a substitute for consultation with a physician or other licensed healthcare provider. You agree that if you have individual healthcare-related questions you should contact your doctor promptly and should not disregard professional medical advice, or delay seeking it, because of information contained here. You also agree that Head and Neck Cancer Australia is not liable for any injury or damage to persons or property (howsoever caused, including by negligence) arising out of or related to any use of Head and Neck Cancer Australia's patient education materials, or for any errors or omissions.

First Published: 2016 Last updated: December 2020